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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

*
RORY L. WALLACE *
*
*
v. * Civil No. CCB-14-276

*
*

THE STATE OF MARYLAND, et al. *
*

*kkkkk

MEM ORANDUM

Plaintiff Rory L. Wallace, proceeding pro $ings this lawsuit against defendants Peter
Franchot, Steven Barzal, and the State of Madjlalleging violations ofitle VII of the Civil
Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2008eseq.and Md. Code AnnState Gov't § 20-60%kt
seq’ Now pending before the court is the defendants’ motion to dismiss or, in the alternative,
for summary judgment. The court finds caadjlument unnecessary to resolve the issGeg.

Local R. 105.6. For the reasons stated belogvd#fendants’ motion—construed as a motion to
dismiss—will be granted.
BACKGROUND

This case arises out of Wallace’s claims #ia was discriminated against based on race.
During the events alleged inistcase, Wallace was employedsaBersonnel Administrator for
the Maryland Office of the Comptroller. She claims that she “maintained an exemplary work
record with the Office of the Comptrolleghd “received good performee evaluations” until
2011. (Compl., ECF No. 1, at 4.) In August 2011)ls¢& wrote a letter to Len Foxwell, Chief

of Staff to the Comptroller, requestingtie considered for the position of Acting Personnel

1 In her complaint, Wallace mistakenly citedearlier version of th#laryland statute, which
has been repealed.
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Director. She believed, however, that “the Defents were resistant tioe very idea of an
African American Female being hired” for this positioid.) Thus, she alleges that she was
never considered for the positiamhich was given to Barzal, a v man without any advanced
educational degree.

Wallace asserts that she fadexstile treatment from Barzal following his appointment in
September 2011. He maintained minimal contattt Wallace, using only email to speak with
her. In December 2011, Barzal issu€avatten counseling memo” to Wallaceld(at 5.) She
communicated to Barzal on December 22, 2011, treafedh*singled’ out” and that the written
counseling was discriminatory, but shev@ereceived a response from hinbd.Y Instead, on
May 10, 2012, Barzal issued a formal reprimand, ogignfor breach of an office protocol, and
“continued to attempt to humiliate and degrltky] . . . by denying minor schedule changes for
[her] while granting these chargg® other staff members.’Id( at 6.) Barzal issued another
written disciplinary notice against Wallace in J@@.2, at which time she was informed that her
unit was being downsized Wallace claims she was the onfanager whose staff was reduced.
The next month, Wallace was removed fromprérate office, which was given to a white
manager with less seniority, and placed in a cabi@he indicates thBarzal “encouraged other
staff members to treat [her] in a hiliating and disrespectful manner.1d(at 7.) Finally, she
overheard Barzal tell another manager thatctned not be a racistecause his wife was a
‘minority.” (1d.)

The above events culminated in Wallacengeplaced on adminisdtive leave on August

1, 2012. By September 4, 2012, she was no longer permitted to enter the office and, on

2 Wallace’s complaint indicateseke events occurred in June 2011. As Barzal had not been
appointed Acting Personnel Directat that time, however, theggppears to be a typographical
error.



September 12, 2012, a year after Barzal had appainted, she was terminated from her
position at the Office of the Comptroller.
STANDARD*

When ruling on a motion under Rule 12(b)(6), the court must “accept the well-pled
allegations of the complaint as true,” and “domes the facts and reasdi@ inferences derived
therefrom in the light most favorable to the plaintiff3arra v. United States20 F.3d 472, 474
(4th Cir. 1997). “Even though the requirementsgdi@ading a proper comyd are substantially
aimed at assuring that the defendlae given adequate noticetb& nature of a claim being
made against him, they also provide criteriadefining issues for trial and for early disposition
of inappropriate complaints.Francis v. Giacomel}i588 F.3d 186, 19@th Cir. 2009). “The
mere recital of elements ofcause of action, supported only tynclusory statements, is not
sufficient to survive a motion maghirsuant to Rule 12(b)(6) Walters v. McMahern684 F.3d
435, 439 (4th Cir. 2012) (citingshcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)). To survive a
motion to dismiss, the factual allegations of a claimmp “must be enough t@ise a right to relief
above the speculative level . . . on the assumptiorathtite allegatins in the complaint are true
(even if doubtful in fact).”Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombjyb50 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (internal

citations and alterations omitted). “To satisfistbtandard, a plaintiff need not ‘forecast’

3 While it does not rely on the results of agministrative proceedinds rendering a decision,
the court notes that Wallace filed a grievadkallenging her termination, and a contested
hearing was held on April 2, 2013, before the Nemgl Office of Administrative Hearings. An
administrative law judge determined that Vila# had been properly terminated because she
“violated the confidentiality ofhe men and women she worked witlthe Comptroller’s Office
by e-mailing their personnel informationter home and to her attorney.” (Oyallace v.
Comptroller of Md,. ECF No. 4-16, at 9.) Following herngnation, Wallace also filed a charge
of discrimination with the Matgnd Commission on Civil RightdJpon investigating Wallace’s
claims, the Commission conclutléhat there was no evidenakracial discrimination or
retaliation. SeeWritten Finding of the Md. Comm’on Civil Rights, ECF No. 4-17.)

* Wallace objects to the defendants’ request forreary judgment. The court, therefore, will
treat the pending motion as a motion to dismiss.
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evidence sufficient to prove the elements of tlaénal . . . However, the complaint must allege
sufficient facts to establish those elementd/alters 684 F.3d at 439 (quotahs and citation
omitted). “Thus, while a plaintiff does not needdemonstrate in a complaint that the right to
relief is ‘probable,’ the compiat must advance the plaintiff’'s claim ‘across the line from
conceivable to plausible.”ld. (quotingTwombly 550 U.S. at 570).
ANALYSIS
A. Discrimination Based on Race

Title VIl makes it illegal for an employer “to ifaor refuse to hire or to discharge any
individual, or otherwise to discriminate against any individu#h respect to his compensation,
terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, beeanf such individual’s race, color, religion,
sex, or national origin."42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(agee alsavid. Code Ann., State Gov't § 20-
606(a). “Absent direct evidence, the elements pfima facie case of discrimination under Title
VIl are: (1) membership in a protected clg®y;satisfactory job péormance; (3) adverse
employment action; and (4) different treatmiom similarly situated employees outside the
protected class.’'Coleman v. Md. Court of Appeal26 F.3d 187, 190 (4th Cir. 2018ge
Evans v. Techs. Applications & Serv. (&% F.3d 954, 959-60 (4th Cir. 1996) (explaining that,
when there is no direct evidence of a discriminatoring decision, the platiff must show: “(1)
she is a member of a protected classh&)employer had an open position for which she

applied or sought to apply; (3) she was qualifmtthe position; and (4) she was rejected for the

> The court notes that there is a dispute over hereEranchot or Barzal may be held liable for
violating Title VII. To the extent Wallace wisheshold Franchot and Barzal liable in their
personal capacities, such o are not cognizableésee Lissau v. S. Food Serv., JA&9 F.3d
177, 180 (4th Cir. 1998) (holding thaupervisors are not liable their individual capacities for
Title VII violations”). Assuming, however, th#Yallace intends to sue them in their official
capacities, the court determines, as explained\helat she fails to state a claim upon which
relief can be granted.



position under circumstances giving rise targerence of unlawful discriminationsee also
Dobkin v. Univ. of Baltimore Sch. of La88 A.3d 692, 699 (Md. App. 2013) (“In the absence of
direct evidence [of discriminatory intent], M&ynd Courts have traditionally held that in
employment discrimination actions, parties merggage in the fotpart burden-shifting

paradigm described by the United State Supreme Court . . ..").

Wallace fails to allege facts that plausibly support a claim of discrimination based on her
former employer’s decision not to hire Her the position of Actig Personnel Director.
Wallace’s complaint alleges little, if any, fadb support she was qualified for the position to
which she applied. She states that she haddugte degree and had been working at the Office
of the Comptroller for just ovdive years when she appliéar Acting Personnel Director, but
she offers nothing to suggeblbse educational and work exmggrces met the requirements for
the position. Nevertheless, even assuminghsldethe necessary quatiitions for the position,
she does not state facts sufficient to supporéasible inference of discrimination. She notes
that, when she requested to be considereddting Personnel Director, stwrote a letter to the
Chief of Staff, who was a white man. But thés no indication the Chief of Staff was even
involved in making the decision tare Barzal, or that he wided such control over the
individuals who made that decisitimt he might direct them to ke discriminatory selections.
Nor is Wallace’s conclusory assertion that “thdddelants were resistant to the very idea of an
African American Female being hired” or hersebvation that Barzal is a white man enough to
infer discrimination. (Compl. at 4.) She refersitodiscriminatory stateemts or actions leading
up to Barzal’s hire, and providesry little information about kiqualifications, other than her
assertion that he did not possassadvanced degree. As indaziabove, however, she does not

maintain that an advanced degree was required for the position of Acting Personnel Director.



Further, she acknowledges tiB#trzal previously was the & Practice/Equal Opportunity
Officer” for the Comptroller’s Office. (Whkace Opp., ECF No. 9, at 7.) The court cannot
presume discrimination simply because arotcandidate was chosen over Wallace.

Turning to Wallace’s allegations regardiBgrzal’'s treatment of her, the court
determines, to the extent she claims discritmmabased on his lack ebntact with her except
via email, his decisions to deny “minor schedthanges,” and her movement from an office to a
cubicle, she fails to state a etaupon which relief can be grante@Compl. at 6.) As stated by
the Fourth Circuit, “[a]n adverse employmenti@cts a discriminatory act which adversely
affect[s] the terms, conditions, or béiteof the plaintiff's employment.”"James v. Booz-Allen
& Hamilton, Inc, 368 F.3d 371, 375 (4th Cir. 2004) (citation and internal quotation marks
omitted). “Conduct short of ‘ultimate emplmgnt decisions’ can constitute adverse
employment action,id. at 375-76, but “[a]n action that meralguses an employee irritation or
inconvenience” does not qualifispriggs v. Public Serv. Comm’n of Mil97 F. Supp. 2d 388,
393 (D. Md. 2002). The conduct alleged here falis the latter category, as the court cannot
conclude it was so significant s affect the terms, conditions, or benefits of Wallace’s
employment. Although Wallace may find a cubicleslelesirable than an office, she offers no
facts to suggest the relocatimsulted in poor working condbins, or otherwise had “some
significant detrimental effect.’Cf. Boone v. Goldinl78 F.3d 253, 255-57 (4th Cir. 1999)
(deciding that an employee did not sufferaalverse employment action, even though she was
assigned to a new position that might be leg®aling and cause “somaodest stress”).

Moreover, even if the court were to deténe Barzal's lack of communication and
scheduling decisions constitute adverse employraetion, Wallace allegeno facts to suggest

that similarly situated employees outside pietected class werestited more favorablySee



Haywood v. Locke387 Fed. App’x 355, 359 (4th Cir. 201@)tation and internal quotation
marks omitted) (“Such a showing would includédewce that the employees dealt with the same
supervisor, [were] subject to the same starglardl . . . engaged in the same conduct without
such differentiating or mitigating circumstandkat would distinguish their conduct or the
employer’s treatment of them for it.*) Neither her complaint nor her opposition brief mentions
whether employees of a different race had nloa@ email communication with Barzal. Wallace
also makes the conclusory statement thateioitaff members” wergranted minor schedule
changes, without any specification as to whethese employees were of the same or a different
race. (Compl. at 6.)

Likewise, Wallace does not allege sufficiéatts to plausibly establish that her
termination or Barzal's decisions regardutigcipline and staffing were based on race.
Wallace’s complaint makes no reference to howzBleapproached the disciplinary process for
employees of a different race. Rather, séseds only hypothetically & the conduct for which
she was disciplined in June 2012 “would haveeauirtually unnoticedf the issue did not
involve [her].” (d.) She also maintains that she was dinly manager whose staff was reduced,
but makes no allegation that the remaining nganewere of the same or another race.

Accepting, as it must, that Barzal made a statémien “his wife was a ‘minority,” the court
still cannot conclude that all the allegation&etatogether in the I most favorable to
Wallace, push her discrimination claim across the line from merely conceivable to plaudible. (

at 7.) Accordingly, Wallace’s disenination claim must be dismissed.

® Unpublished cases are cited only for the soussloétheir reasoning, nfir any precedential
value.



B. Hostile Work Environment

To establish a hostile workneironment claim, the plaintiff must establish that: “(1) she
experienced unwelcome harassimé®) the harassment was bdsm her gender, race, or age;
(3) the harassment was sufficiently severe orgmve to alter the conditions of employment and
create an abusive atmosphere; and (4) tiseseme basis for imposing liability on the
employer.” Bass v. E.l. DuPoint de Nemours & €824 F.3d 761, 765 (4th Cir. 2003). The
plaintiff must show not onlyhat she subjectively believéer workplace environment was
hostile, but also that a reasable person would have foundatbe objectively hostileEqual
Emp’t Opportunity Comm'n v. Sunbelt Rentals,,1621 F.3d 306, 315 (4th Cir. 2008). The
court considers a number of factors in detemgmwhether a reasonalperson would perceive a
workplace environment to be sufficiently hostileglsas “the frequency of the discriminatory
conduct; its severity; whether it is physicallygatening or humiliating, or a mere offensive
utterance; and whether it unreasonablyrfetes with an employee’s performancdéaragher v.
City of Boca Raton524 U.S. 775, 787-88 (1998).

Wallace fails to make factuallegjations of harassment that could plausibly be considered
severe or pervasive. To suppber hostile work environmentaim, she alleges broadly that
Barzal “encouraged other staff members to fieax] in a humiliating and disrespectful manner.”
(Compl. at 7.) This claim, however, is unsugpdrby any factual allegations as to how her
fellow employees treated her, or how often they engaged in this conduct. She makes no
allegations of derogatory comments or theeatg behavior and prades only conclusory
statements that she was somehow trelategifavorably thanther co-workersSee Causey v.

Balog 162 F.3d 795, 801-02 (4th Cir. 1998). Furthermasealready determined, Wallace fails



to allege facts that plausibly establish howZdis conduct towards her was based on race. The
court, therefore, will dismiss her claim for hostile work environment.
C. Retaliation

Finally, to make a claim faretaliation, the plaintiff musgstablish the following three
elements(1) [s]he engaged in a protected activi(R) [s]he suffered an adverse employment
action; and (3)here is a causal connection between the protected activity and the adverse
employment actionHolland v. Washington Homes, Ind87 F.3d 208, 218 (4th Cir. 2007)
(emphasis added). There are two categorigsaiécted activities: (1) “opposition” and (2)
“participation.” Equal Emp’t Opportunity Comm'n v. Navy Fed. Credit Uniit¥ F.3d 397,
406 (4th Cir. 2005). “[P]rotected oppositional activities may includersgagiormal protests
and voicing one’s own opinions in order torgyiattention to an employer’s discriminatory
activities as well as complain|ts] . about suspected violationdd. (citations and internal
guotation marks omitted). Activities that congttiparticipation” may include “(1) making a
charge; (2) testifying; (3assisting; or (4) participating any manner in an investigation,
proceeding, or hearing under Title VIIlaughlin v. Metro. Washington Airports Autti49
F.3d 253, 259 (4th Cir. 1998jee alsat2 U.S.C. § 2000e-3(a).

The defendants argue that Wallace’s retalratilaim must be dismissed because seeking
a promotion is not protected activity under @¥1l. Insofar as Wallace suggests that she
suffered adverse employment action as a resapplying for the posibn of Acting Personnel
Director, she does not state a claim upon whadief may be granted. The defendants are
correct that applying for a job piien does not fall within eithectategory of protected activity
addressed above. But that ig ttee end of the analysis, agtbourt must consider whether

Wallace’'s December 22, 2011, comments to Barzalfaray the basis of a retaliation claim.



Even if the court assumes her commentsstitute protected oppositional activity, Wallace
alleges no facts to suggest a causal connection between that activity and the alleged employment
actions taken by Barzal. To the contrary, her complaint alleges that, after she told Barzal she felt
“singled’ out,” nearly five months passedfbee he engaged in any retaliatory conduct.
(Compl. at 5.) The length of time betweéatallace’s protected activitgnd Barzal’s conduct
negates any reasonable inference of causa@brKing v. Rumsfe|B28 F.3d 145, 151 & n.5
(4th Cir. 2003) (determining an employee made quiraa faciecase of retaliation when he was
terminated two months and two weeks after leglfa complaint, although the length of time was
“sufficiently long so as to weaken signifidgnthe inference of causation between the two
events”). The court will dismiss Wallace’s retaliation claim.
CONCLUSION
For the reasons stated abave court will grant the defielants’ motion, and Wallace’s

complaint will be dismissed. A separate order follows.

May 23,2014 /s/
Date CatherineC. Blake

United State<District Judge
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